IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF LICENSE OF LICENSE OF SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF LICENSE OF SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF LICENSE OF LICENSE

CHRISTOPHER BEAVOR, An Individual,) Case No.: 81964
Appellant,)
VS.)
JOSHUAS TOMSHECK, An Individual,)))
Respondent.)))

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Attorneys for Appellant:

H. STAN JOHNSON, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 265

RYAN D. JOHNSON, ESQ.

Nevada Bar No. 14724

COHEN | JOHNSON

375 East Warm Springs Road, Suite 104

Las Vegas, Nevada 89119 Telephone: (702) 823-3500

Facsimile: (702) 823-3400

Email: sjohnson@cohenjohnson.com

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

CHRISTOPHER BEAVOR, An Individual,)	Case No.:	81964
Appellant,)		
VS.)

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an Appeal from a July 10, 2020 Order and Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law ("Order") granting a Motion for Summary Judgment ("MSJ"), from the *Eighth Judicial District*, before the Honorable James Crockett, brought by Plaintiff/Appellant, CHRISTOPHER BEAVOR, An Individual ("Beavor"), against Defendant/Respondent, JOSHUA TOMSHECK, An Individual ("Tomsheck") ("Action"). [AA 1-7; 582-99; 670-80; 681-702].

On August 7, 2020, Beavor timely filed a Motion to Alter/Amend the Order ("Alter/Amend Motion"), pursuant to *NRCP* 52(b) and 59(e). [AA 600-15]. The Order resolving the Alter/Amend Motion was entered and served on September 17, 2020. [AA 670-80]. Beavor timely filed his Notice of Appeal on October 16, 2020. [AA 681-83].

ROUTING STATEMENT

Beavor respectfully submits that this Appeal should be heard by the *Nevada Supreme Court* as it raises issues of first impression relating the right to assign the proceeds from a previously asserted legal malpractice claim. *See NRAP* 17(a)(11).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

Beavor respectfully submits the following Statement of Issues in this Appeal:

Whether the District Court erred in granting the MSJ against
 Beavor and dismissing the instant Action.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF THE CASE

This Appeal arises from an Action filed by Beavor against Tomsheck on April 23, 2019 in the *Eighth Judicial District*. [AA 1-7].

On July 10, 2020, the District Court granted the MSJ in favor of Tomsheck, with Notice of Entry of the Order served on the same date. [AA 582-599].

On August 7, 2020, Beavor timely filed his Alter/Amend Motion, pursuant to *NRCP* 52(b) and 59(e). [AA 600-615]. On September 17, 2020, the District Court denied the Alter/Amend Motion, with Notice of Entry of the Order served on the same date, [AA 670-80].

Beavor timely filed his Notice of Appeal on October 16, 2020. [AA 681-83].

1. <u>Underlying Action</u>

The instant Action relates to an underlying lawsuit brought by Yacov Hefetz ("**Hefetz**") against Beavor for breach of a personal guaranty, arising from the non payment of a large commercial loan which could subject him to millions of dollars in damages. [AA 224]. The underlying action was filed on July 21, 2011 in the *Eighth Judicial District*, bearing Case No.: A-11-645353-C ("**Underlying Action**"). [AA 2-4; 238-47].

The Underlying Action was tried to a jury between February 25, 2013 and March 1, 2013, wherein the jury returned a verdict in favor of Beavor.

[AA 97]. On May 21, 2013, the District Court entered judgment in favor of Beavor in the Underlying Action ("Underlying Judgment"). [AA 94-99].

\\\ \\\ \\\

///

¹ H. Stan Johnson did not represent Hefetz in the underlying case. On

March 19, 2013, <u>after the completion of the trial in the Underlying Action</u>, H. Stan Johnson, Esq. was substituted in as Hefetz's new counsel. [AA 241].

a. New Trial Motion

On June 10, 2013, Hefetz's new counsel filed a Motion for a New Trial in the Underlying Action ("New Trial Motion") wherein he alleged:

- 1. During the trial of the Underlying Action, counsel for Beavor committed attorney misconduct in violation of the prohibitions in *Lioce v. Cohen*, 124 Nev. 1, 174 P.3d 970 (2008); and
- 2. The jury, by misunderstanding the issues presented in a separate bankruptcy court proceeding, ignored the jury instructions. [AA 19-20].

On or about June 19, 2013, Beavor also retained new counsel,
Tomsheck as his attorney for all post-trial matters, including the New Trial
Motion. [AA 59; 300; 360].

On June 20, 2013, Tomsheck filed Beavor's Opposition to the New Trial Motion ("New Trial Opposition"). In the New Trial Opposition,

Tomsheck did <u>not</u> substantively oppose the New Trial Motion, <u>instead</u>

choosing only to argue that the New Trial Motion had been untimely filed.

[AA 59; 65-86; 101-02; 185-88]

///

///

In his Reply, Hefetz argued that the New Trial Motion had been timely filed and that Beavor's failure to substantively oppose the New Trial Motion amounted to a waiver and consent to the granting of the New Trial Motion.² [AA 59; 191-94; 304-05; 308-13; 322-23; 328].

The District Court heard the New Trial Motion on August 7, 2013, whereupon it ruled that the New Trial Motion had been timely filed and that **but for** Beavor's failure to substantively oppose the New Trial Motion, <u>it</u> would have denied the New Trial Motion. [AA 192-93]. Accordingly, the District Court granted the New Trial Motion. [AA 59; 101-02].

b. New Trial Motion - Judicial Review

Instead of filing a direct appeal with this Court from the District Court's granting of the New Trial Motion, as expressly provided for in *NRAP* 3A(b)(2), Tomsheck filed a Petition for *Writ of Mandamus* ("**Petition**") on Beavor's behalf on or about May 13, 2014. [AA 60; 339].

² See EDCR 2.20(e): "Failure of the opposing party to serve and file written opposition may be construed as an admission that the motion and/or joinder is meritorious and a consent to granting the same." [2013 Version].

On or about September 16, 2014, this Court entered an order denying the Petition, wherein it noted that extraordinary writ relief was unavailable, as a direct appeal was the proper course of action. [AA 60; 104; 343-46].

By the time the Petition was denied, the time in which to file a direct appeal of the granting of the New Trial Motion had expired. *See NRAP* 4(a).

c. Underlying Action - Reinstatement

Due to Tomsheck's legal errors, instead of Beavor prevailing in the Underlying Action, the Underlying Judgment in Beavor's favor was vacated, thereby allowing for the re-trial of the Underlying Action, which could subject Beavor to millions of dollars of liability. [AA 60; 224].

Over the following several years, Beavor incurred substantial legal fees in defending against Hefetz in the Underlying Action. [AA 471-72].³ During this time period, Beavor filed a Motion to Dismiss the Underlying Action based upon *NRS* 40.435 [One Action Rule] ("**Motion to Dismiss**"). [AA 243].

³ Tomsheck subsequently withdrew as counsel for Beavor on November 5, 2014. [AA 60]. On January 21, 2015, the law firm of Gordon & Silver filed a Notice of Appearance on behalf of Beavor, which legal representation was later substituted by the law firm of Dickinson Wright. [AA 60].

The District Court granted the Motion to Dismiss, and thereafter, dismissed the Underlying Action. [AA 243; 274-75]. Hefetz timely appealed the granting of the Motion to Dismiss, whereupon on July 6, 2017 this Court reversed the granting of the Motion to Dismiss and reinstated the Underlying Action. [AA 114-15; 174; 245].

d. Beavor Asserts Legal Malpractice Claim

During the pendency of Hefetz's appeal of the granting of the Motion to Dismiss, on September 16, 2015, Beavor noticed and asserted ⁴ a claim for legal malpractice against Tomsheck, including providing Tomsheck with a draft complaint for legal malpractice. [AA 106].

During an October 1, 2015 mandatory settlement conference conducted in Hefetz's appeal, representatives of Tomsheck's legal malpractice carrier attended the settlement conference. [AA 106; 218; 334; 346; 352; 356-57; 602-03].

///

///

⁴ Assert means "[t]o state positively" or "[t]o invoke or enforce a legal right." *Black's Law Dictionary* (11th Ed. 2019).

In March 2016, Beavor and Tomsheck agreed to toll the statute of limitations for claims of legal malpractice ("**Tolling Agreement**"). [AA 109-12].⁵

8. Remedies and Defenses upon Expiration of the Term of this Agreement. Upon the expiration of the Term of this Agreement, the Parties shall retain any and all legal and equitable claims, remedies, defenses, rights and duties to the fullest extent of law, which they have or may have as of the Effective Date of this Agreement. [AA 109-112](emphasis).

The Tolling Agreement did <u>not</u> provide for a shortened statute of limitations period, as it merely tolled and prevented the filing of a lawsuit during its applicable time period. The Underlying Action was not dismissed until March 13, 2019. [AA 246; 249-52]. The instant Action was timely filed the following month on April 23, 2019. [AA 1-7].

⁵ While the District Court did not rule on Tomsheck's second argument in support of the MSJ in the instant Action, i.e. the statute of limitations, nevertheless the argument was without merit as the Tolling Agreement did <u>not</u> supplant Nevada's litigation malpractice tolling rule. *See NRS* 11.207(1)("must be commenced within 4 years after the plaintiff sustains damage or within 2 years after the plaintiff discovers or through the use of reasonable diligence should have discovered the material facts which constitute the cause of action, whichever occurs earlier."); *Kim v. Dickinson Wright, PLLC*, 135 Nev. Adv. Rep. 20, 442 P.3d 1070, 1075 (2019) ("Instead, the litigation malpractice tolling rule applies to the two-year discovery rule, serving to toll a malpractice claim's statute of limitations until the underlying litigation is resolved and damages are certain."); *Branch Banking & Trust Co. v. Gerrard*, 134 Nev. 871, 432 P.3d 736 (2018). [AA 592]. The Tolling Agreement specifically provided:

e. Underlying Action - Second Trial

The parties settled the Underlying Action shortly before the commencement of the second trial date. On March 13, 2019, a Stipulation to Dismiss with Prejudice the Underlying Action was filed with the District Court. [AA 246; 249-52].

The settlement of the Underlying Action was comprised of a substantial financial payment from Beavor to Hefetz, as well as the assignment by Beavor to Hefetz of the <u>proceeds</u> of Beavor's previously asserted legal malpractice claim against Tomsheck ("**Settlement Agreement**"). [AA 143-48].

The Settlement Agreement, which included a severability provision and was executed by Hefetz and Beavor on January 8, 2019 and February 15, 2019 respectively, provided, among other matters⁶ that:

- <u>Beavor</u> agreed to prosecute <u>his</u> legal malpractice claim and/or other claims he may have against Tomsheck; Beavor agreed that H. Stan Johnson, Esq. will serve as counsel.
- Beavor represented and warranted that he will fully pursue and cooperate in the prosecution of his claims.

⁶ The Settlement Agreement provided that "Hefetz agrees to release, discharge, and forever hold harmless: Beavor and his . . . legal representatives" [AA 143].

- Beavor would take any and all reasonable actions as reasonably requested by counsel to prosecute his claims.
- Beavor will do nothing intentional to limit or harm the value of any recovery related to his claims.
- Hefetz would indemnify Beavor for any attorney's fees resulting from the litigation of his claims.
- Beavor would assign all recovery or <u>proceeds</u> from his claims to Hefetz. [AA 144-45; 499].

B. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS/DISPOSITION

On April 23, 2019, <u>Beavor</u> the prior client, sued Tomsheck, wherein his causes of action were: (1) Professional Negligence; and (2) Breach of Fiduciary Duty and Breach of Duty of Loyalty. [AA 1-7].

On May 16, 2019, Tomsheck filed his Answer to the instant

Complaint, which included a Third-Party Complaint for contribution against

Third-Party Defendant, MARC SAGGESE ("Saggese"). [AA 10-17].⁷

⁷ Saggese represented Beavor in the Underlying Action. [AA 15; 38; 67]. In the instant Action, Saggese filed a Motion to Dismiss, or Alternatively, Motion for Summary Judgment against Tomsheck's Third-Party Complaint ("Saggese Motion"). [AA 170-214]. In Tomsheck's Opposition to the Saggese Motion, with regard to Saggese, Tomsheck wrote "Whether Tomsheck owed or breached any duty to Beavor (both of which are disputed)" [AA 278]. Since it granted Tomsheck's MSJ in the instant Action, the District Court determined that the Saggese Motion was moot, and therefore, declined to rule upon the matter. [AA 593; 698-700].

On March 9, 2020, Tomsheck filed the MSJ in the instant Action arguing that the Settlement Agreement violated Nevada law by assigning Beavor's entire legal malpractice claim to Hefetz. [AA 33-142; 143-48; 149-69].8

On March 27, 2020, Beavor filed his Opposition to Tomsheck's MSJ. [AA 215-256]. In his Opposition to the MSJ, among other matters, <u>Beavor</u> properly submitted a sworn declaration that provided:

- Beavor, as partial consideration for the Settlement Agreement, assigned the <u>proceeds</u> from any recovery against Tomsheck.
- Beavor had <u>not assigned</u> any cause of action to any third-party for any <u>claims</u> against Tomsheck.
- Beavor was the Plaintiff in the instant Action, was actively participating in the instant Action and was in frequent contact with his counsel.
- Although Beavor agreed to use H. Stan Johnson, Esq. as his counsel in the instant Action, <u>Beavor maintained the legal right to use other counsel and/or replace current counsel</u>.

⁸ The Settlement Agreement did <u>not</u> assign Beavor's legal malpractice claim to Hefetz, only the proceeds, i.e. "recovery or proceeds." [AA 145]. "A basic rule of contract interpretation is that every word must be given effect it at all possible." *Musser v. Bank of Am.*, 114 Nev. 945, 949, 964 P.2d 51, 54 (1998). "In interpreting a contract, the court shall effectuate the intent of the parties, which may be determined in light of the surrounding circumstances if not clear from the contract itself." *NGA #2 Ltd. Liab. Co. v. Rains*, 113 Nev. 1151, 1158, 946 P.2d 163, 167 (1997).

- Beavor actively consulted with his counsel in the instant Action regarding pleadings and litigation strategy.
- It is Beavor's decision and his alone to accept or reject any settlement offers in the instant Action. [AA 255-56] (emphasis).9

In Tomsheck's Reply to Beavor's Opposition to the MSJ, filed on April 30, 2020, Tomsheck did not offer any rebuttal evidence to contradict Beavor's sworn declaration. [AA 494-534].

The District Court granted the MSJ following a June 25, 2020 hearing before the Honorable James Crockett. The District Court granted the MSJ, citing *Tower Homes, LLC v. Heaton*, 132 Nev. 628, 377 P.3d 118 (2016) and *Chaffee v. Smith*, 98 Nev. 222, 645 P.2d 966 (1982), wherein it found that Nevada law does not permit the assignment of a legal malpractice case. [AA 582-99]. However, the record reflects that the District Court misconstrued the Settlement Agreement. [AA 693-98]; *See infra*.

⁹ Beavor's sworn declaration, which did not constitute impermissible parole evidence, did <u>not</u> contradict the terms of the Settlement Agreement, as it reflected Beavor's <u>actions</u> relative to the instant Action. "Generally, parol evidence may <u>not be used</u> to **contradict the terms of a written contractual agreement**. The parole evidence rule forbids the reception of evidence which would **vary or contradict the contract**, since all prior negotiations and agreements are deemed to have been merged therein." *Kaldi v. Farmers Ins. Exch.*, 117 Nev. 273, 281, 21 P.3d 16, 15-16 (2001)(emphasis).

The District Court's Order on the MSJ was filed on July 9, 2020, with Notice of Entry of Order served on July 10, 2020. [AA 582-99].

On August 7, 2020, Beavor timely filed the Alter/Amend Motion.

[AA 600-15]. The District Court denied, without argument, the

Alter/Amend Motion on September 17, 2020, with Notice of Entry of Order served on September 17, 2020. [AA 670-80].

On September 12, 2020, the District Court properly denied

Tomsheck's request for litigation costs and/or attorney's fees. [AA 660-67]

Beavor timely filed his Notice of Appeal on October 16, 2020. [AA 681-83].

STATEMENT OF FACTS RELEVANT TO APPEAL

The Underlying Action related to a claim by Hefetz against Beavor arising from his personal guaranty of a commercial real estate loan that was never repaid. [AA 172; 184]. In his declaration to the Saggese Motion,

Beavor stated that he understood that the "one action rule" was a defense to the Underlying Action, i.e. he "understood that a creditor seeking to recover a debt secured by real property must first proceed against the security before pursing the debtor personally." [AA 184].

Beavor further stated that while he understood that the application of the "one action rule" could potentially end the Underlying Action, he did not want his own home foreclosed upon due to issues surrounding his elderly mother that lived next door, the raising of his children and the children of his deceased sister, as well as properties assigned to his ex-wife. [AA 184-85].

Beavor wanted the issues presented in the Underlying Action to be heard by jury. [AA 185]. Tomsheck admitted to Beavor that he [Tomsheck] had made a mistake in failing to address the substantive arguments presented in the New Trial Motion. [AA 185; 188].

In an email from Tomsheck, he states:

In hindsight, given the result, Marc is right that I should have opposed their motion differently . . . Although I sincerely believe I had a good basis to handle the matter the way I did . . . And without the benefit of hindsight I likely wouldn't have handled it differently. That being said I intent to fully litigate this through until the right result is reached. [AA 188].

However, Tomsheck contends that Saggese is the cause of Beavor's damages. [AA 275]. Tomsheck did not substantively oppose the New Trial Motion nor file a direct appeal of the District Court's granting of the New Trial Motion as permitted under *NRAP* 3A(b)(2). [AA 60; 104; 343-46].

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Beavor respectfully submits that Nevada law does not prohibit the assignment of <u>only</u> the <u>proceeds</u> from a previously asserted legal malpractice claim to another party, including an adversary in an underlying litigation matter.

The District Court erred in granting the MSJ by ignoring the terms of the Settlement Agreement, whereupon it improperly determined that the Settlement Agreement contemplated the assignment of Beavor's entire legal malpractice claim, as opposed to <u>only</u> the <u>proceeds</u> of Beavor's previously asserted legal malpractice claim against Tomsheck. Independently, the District Court should have properly allowed Beavor to maintain his timely legal malpractice claim, as he was the real party in interest.

There were genuine issues of material fact in dispute that should have properly prevented the District Court from granting the MSJ, i.e. regarding Beavor's control of the instant Action. Further, Tomsheck failed to rebut the substantial evidence submitted in the Opposition submitted by Beavor to the MSJ, which evidence established, among other matters, Beavor's continuing control and ownership of his legal malpractice claim against Tomsheck.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING THE
MSJ, AS THE ASSIGNMENT OF ONLY PROCEEDS
FROM A PREVIOUSLY ASSERTED LEGAL
MALPRACTICE CLAIM IS PERMITTED UNDER
NEVADA LAW

The District Court improperly granted the MSJ, as the Settlement Agreement only assigned to Hefetz the <u>proceeds</u> of Beavor's previously asserted legal malpractice claim against Tomsheck and Beavor was properly litigating the instant Action on his own behalf. [AA 145].¹⁰

As it is respectfully submitted that <u>Nevada law does not prohibit the</u>

<u>limited assignment as presented in the instant Action</u>, the District Court

erred in granting the MSJ, and therefore, this Court should properly reverse
the Order in its entirety and remand the instant Action for a trial.

The standard of review for the granting of a motion for summary judgment is *de novo* review, i.e. this Court reviews the entire record anew without deference to the findings of the District Court. *See Caughlin Ranch Homeowners Ass'n. v. Caughlin Club*, 109 Nev. 264, 849 P.2d 310 (1993); *NRCP* 56. Summary judgment is only appropriate "where there is no legally sufficient evidentiary basis for a reasonable jury to find for the nonmoving party." *Alberter v. McDonald's Corp.*, 70 F. Supp. 2d 1138, 1141 (D. Nev. 1999). When reviewing a motion for summary judgment, the evidence and all reasonable inferences drawn from it must be viewed in a light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *See Allstate Ins. Co. v. Fackett*, 125 Nev. 132, 137, 206 P.3d 572, 575 (2009); *Wood v. Safeway, Inc.*, 121 Nev. 724, 729, 121 P.3d 1026, 1030 (2005).

A. Nevada Law Does Not Prohibit Assignment of Proceeds

This Court's two prior published cases involving assignments in the context of underlying legal malpractice, i.e. *Chaffee* and *Tower Homes*, *supra*, while materially distinguishable based upon their respective facts and holdings, do not prohibit the assignment of only proceeds from a previously asserted legal malpractice claim.¹¹

1. The Chaffee Case

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