### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

CHRISTOPHER BEAVOR, an individual,

Appellant,

v.

JOSHUA TOMSHECK, an individual,

Respondent.

Supreme Court No. 81964 Electronically Filed District Cours 67574 2021 10:16 a.m. A-19-79340 Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

### **RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF**

OLSON CANNON GORMLEY & STOBERSKI MAX E. CORRICK, II Nevada Bar No. 006609 9950 West Cheyenne Avenue Las Vegas, NV 89129 Attorneys for Respondent Joshua Tomsheck

### **DISCLOSURE STATEMENT PURSUANT TO NRAP 26.1**

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

This Court has previously addressed and rejected the attempt to

expand Achrem v. Expressway Plaza Limited Partnership, 112 Nev. 737, 917 P.2d

447 (1996) and graft it onto legal malpractice cases. In Tower Homes, the very

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Utah appears to condone assignment to a former adversary except in carefully select circumstances. *See Eagle Mountain City v. Parsons Kinghorn & Harris, P.C.*, 408 P.3d 322 (Utah 2017). However, *Goodley* and its progeny have long been the guiding stars in Nevada. They should continue to remain as such.

same arguments Beavor offers here were found to be unconvincing, and this Court should reject Beavor's overtures again because they ignore the fundamental difference between legal malpractice claims and garden variety personal injury torts. This Court stated five years ago that it is "not convinced that *Achrem*'s reasoning applies to legal malpractice claims." *Tower Homes*, 132 Nev. at 635, 377 P.3d at 122. This Court should reaffirm that conclusion under the facts of this case.<sup>12</sup> As this Court embraced the *Goodley* principle forty (40) years ago, this Court should reaffirm it now. *Id. (quoting Goodley)*.

The reasons are evident. *Tower Homes* provides a bright line test. It guides Nevadans that clever lawyers and litigants cannot circumvent Nevada public policy, or the rationale of *Goodley*, by fabricating an end run around the general prohibition against assigning legal malpractice claims by trying to cabin the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Beavor relies upon a lone opinion from one of the courts of appeals in Michigan to overrule *Tower Homes* and apply *Achrem* to legal malpractice cases. That decision, *Weston v. Dowty*, 163 Mich.App. 238, 414 N.W. 2d 165 (Mich. Ct. App. 1987), has been severely discredited for its result and failure to discuss the public policy concerns which predominate even the hint of an assignment of legal malpractice claims. As the Connecticut Supreme Court in *Gurski* correctly noted, the *Weston* Court applied a "hypertechnical analysis that focused on the plaintiff's status as the 'real party in interest' because he brought the suit in his own name without discussing the public policy implications." *Gurski*, 276 Conn. at 284, fn. 13. This Court should not follow *Weston*, especially considering *Chaffee* and *Tower Homes*.

assignment to merely proceeds. It is a distinction without a difference, as reasonable minds would agree. As the Connecticut Supreme Court aptly stated,

[W]e agree with those courts that have identified the "<u>meaningless</u> <u>distinction</u>" between an assignment of a cause of action and an assignment of recovery from such an action, which distinction is made merely to circumvent the public policy barring assignments. *Town & Country Bank of Springfield v. Country Mutual Ins. Co.*, 121 Ill.App.3d 216, 218, 76 Ill.Dec. 724, 459 N.E.2d 639 (1984). We will not engage in such a nullity.

*Gurski v. Rosenblum and Filan, LLC*, 276 Conn. 257, 285, 885 A.2d 163, 178 (2005) (emphasis added).

This sentiment has been echoed in other jurisdictions. For example, *Botma v. Huser*, 202 Ariz. 14, 39 P.3d 538 (Ariz. Ct. Ap. 2002), the Arizona Court of Appeals rejected the same efforts employed by Beavor and Hefetz here. In *Botma*, the appellant tried to bundle an assignment of an insurance bad faith claim with the assignment of a legal malpractice claim. The *Botma* Court refused to allow the assignment of the legal malpractice claim (but did allow the assignment of the insurance bad faith claim) and upheld the lower court's dismissal of that legal malpractice claim entirely. The *Botma* Court noted that "neither Botma's malpractice claim nor its proceeds are assignable" and that once he assigned all of the proceeds to the legal malpractice he had "nothing to 'retain' in the present lawsuit." Id. at 19, 39 P.3d at 543. The *Botma* Court then held: "...the purpose of the assignment agreement 'was to allow Plaintiff Himes to recover any and all monies which might be owing to Plaintiff Botma' and that 'Plaintiff Himes will be the *ultimate beneficiary* of Plaintiff Botma's claims herein.' To allow the present lawsuit, which was born out of that assignment agreement, to proceed in Botma's name would be to wink at the rule against assignment of legal malpractice claims."

### Id. (emphasis added).

Both *Gurski* and *Botma* are instructive here, and the district court was correct to rely upon their rationale for not allowing a purported assignment of only proceeds to circumvent the public policy barring assignment of legal malpractice claims. III AA 592. Beavor readily admits that he assigned, at a minimum, all the proceeds from his unfiled lawsuit to his former adversary, Hefetz. That being the case, the district court correctly intuited that Hefetz – the recipient of all the potential proceeds – was the *ultimate beneficiary* to Beavor's claims and no meaningful distinction exists between having been given the legal malpractice claim and the potential proceeds from it.

Rather than upend Nevada law, this Court should uphold the district court's determination that "Nevada law does not allow a party to simply assign the proceeds from a legal malpractice lawsuit in order to avoid the appearance of an impermissible assignment of the legal malpractice lawsuit itself." III AA 592. Beavor offers no substance to why forty (40) years of Nevada law prohibiting the assignment of legal malpractice claims, whether in whole or in part, under the facts of this case, should be swept away. This Court should affirm. D. The district court correctly identified Hefetz had substantial, if not complete, control over Beavor's legal malpractice claim, that this was not just an assignment of proceeds, and it properly applied *Aldabe v. Adams* in not allowing Beavor to fabricate an issue of fact with his Declaration while a summary judgment motion was pending

Beavor's Settlement with Hefetz gave Beavor's former adversary essentially

total control over the legal malpractice lawsuit Beavor had yet to file against Tomsheck. The district court wisely saw the arrangement for what it was: among other things, an attempt to shuttle money from Tomsheck to Hefetz where Hefetz had no claim against Tomsheck at all. That object – the money – coupled with all the other restrictions Hefetz and Beavor agreed to saddle Beavor with – made a mockery of Nevada law and public policy which compelled summary judgment against Beavor.

Although this was thoroughly fleshed out in Tomsheck's reply brief below, III AA 500-504, and need not be reiterated here, the record below makes clear that as part of their conspiracy the district court acknowledged that Beavor and Hefetz propped Beavor up as a mere figurehead plaintiff in a lawsuit which had not been filed. I AA 143. To be sure, Beavor and Hefetz colluded to protect Beavor from any exposure in the lawsuit, making Hefetz the sole beneficiary of what might be recovered in the to-be-filed lawsuit. I AA 143-144. Beavor and Hefetz agreed that Beavor would do nothing to impact how much money would be coming Hefetz's way at the end of the case – which necessarily included not settling the case for less than what Hefetz wanted. I AA 143.

In sum, Beavor and Hefetz conspired to accomplish what Nevada law prohibited. The district court rooted out Beavor and Hefetz's plan and correctly determined that his Settlement gave Hefetz substantial, if not total, control over the litigation. III AA 592. This was no mere assignment of proceeds. It was something far more, and it could not be argued away.

Indeed, the district court correctly accepted Tomsheck's arguments below that Beavor's declaration – upon which he continues to rely – was submitted in violation of decades-old Nevada precedent which holds a party cannot defeat summary judgment by contradicting itself in response to an already-pending NRCP 56 motion. *See Aldabe v. Adams*, 81 Nev. 280, 284–85, 402 P.2d 34, 36–37 (1965) (refusing to credit a sworn statement made in opposition to summary judgment that was in direct conflict with an earlier statement of the same party), *overruled on other grounds by Siragusa v. Brown*, 114 Nev. 1384, 1393, 971 P.2d 801, 807 (1998); *see also Cleveland v. Policy Mgmt. Sys. Corp., 526 U.S.* 795, 806–07, 119 S.Ct. 1597, 143 L.Ed.2d 966 (1999).

Here, Tomsheck's motion for summary judgment, which brought Beavor's

22

and Hefetz's conspiracy to light, was filed on March 9, 2020. I AA 33-142. The unambiguous terms of their sworn Settlement, along with the terms' significance, were laid before the district court. The degree of Hefetz's control over Beavor's yet-to-be-filed lawsuit was overwhelming, essentially eclipsing all interest and control Beavor held.

With Tomsheck's summary judgment motion pending, Beavor crafted his declaration and submitted it on March 27, 2020. II AA 255-256. Therein, Beavor attempted to distance, dispute, and re-contextualize the clear terms of the Settlement to overcome summary judgment.<sup>13</sup> The Settlement terms which did not refer to Hefetz being the sole and ultimate monetary beneficiary of Beavor's to-be-filed lawsuit evidenced the degree of control Hefetz was given over the litigation – making their agreement, at a minimum, a *de facto* assignment.<sup>14</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Notably, Beavor never offered any declaration from Hefetz – the person ultimately affected by Beavor's arguments -- to support Beavor's interpretation of the Settlement below.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> The term "*de facto*" in the context of this case, and the case law which applies to it, has dual meaning. First, Beavor concedes that he assigned the proceeds, which the Settlement explicitly states that Beavor "irrevocably assigns" them. I AA 145. There is nothing "*de facto*" about that. The Settlement is an express assignment in that regard. The other form of "*de facto*" assignment has to do with looking past the explicit language of the Settlement to see if there are the hallmarks of control which would turn an agreement which does not use the term "assign" or "assignment" into one that should be construed as such. Here, the district court was correct in noting that under the totality of the circumstances, whether the Settlement is deemed an express assignment or a *de facto* one does not change the

The district court correctly interpreted that *Aldabe* forbade Beavor's attempts to fabricate a genuine issue of material fact, and the district court gave Beavor's declaration its deserved weight.<sup>15</sup> It was not proper, and it was most certainly contradicted by the Settlement and Tomsheck's arguments to the district court below.

Put plainly, the district court recognized that a party who has nothing to gain or lose from litigation, and who is forced to do his former adversary's bidding in the process, has no substantial control over the litigation at all. And it carries over to this appeal. Here, the only person who stands to benefit from a reversal of the district court's decision is a man who is not a party to this case, was never represented by Tomsheck, and who was Beavor's adversary in the underlying matters below. Beavor and Hefetz installed Beavor as a figurehead and impermissibly sought to avoid Nevada's general prohibition against assigning legal malpractice claims. The district court saw Beavor's and Hefetz's conduct and Settlement for what it is: a sham and affront to Nevada law and the attorney-client relationship. This Court should arrive at the same result.

result because both violate Nevada public policy and the rationale behind prohibiting assignment of legal malpractice claims. III AA 592-593.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> For reasons similar to the inadmissibility of Beavor's declaration under Rule 56, Tomsheck also argued Beavor's declaration was inadmissible under the parol evidence rule. The same result would be reached under either framework.

E. The district court correctly determined Beavor had no basis to "claw back" that which he had completely and irrevocably given to Hefetz, and that there is no basis under Nevada law to allow Beavor another bite at the apple

Caught with his hand in the proverbial cookie jar, Beavor has argued he should be given another opportunity to bring his claims against Tomsheck. Each of the three main points Beavor relies upon for such a perverse reversal of fortune is contrary to the terms of the Settlement and Nevada public policy which prohibits assignment of legal malpractice cases.

First, the district court aptly noted that in Beavor's Settlement he <u>irrevocably</u> assigned all the proceeds to his former adversary, a non-party, and therefore had nothing to claw back for himself. III AA 593. While there are other jurisdictions which *might* allow for such claw back (*e.g.*, Florida, Michigan, and Kentucky) – particularly where a certain percentage of proceeds is retained by the figurehead – Nevada is not one of those jurisdictions and Beavor's Settlement left nothing on the bone for Beavor. As noted above, however, the calculus changes when a former adversary is involved such that it appears only one jurisdiction *might* allow

it (Utah). Beavor cites to no principled reason why Nevada should change course to reward his conduct now.<sup>16</sup>

Second, this Court has rejected Beavor's "do over" argument and it should do so again. In *Tower Homes*, this Court addressed the issue of whether, in the context of a bankruptcy court order, previously assigned proceeds can revert back to avoid summary judgment. The *Tower Homes* Court rejected the "do over" argument when it stated:

The purchasers also contend that even if their claim was impermissibly assigned, the portion of the bankruptcy court order allowing the purchasers to retain any recovery should be ignored and the proceeds should revert back to the estate. However, the purchasers have cited no authority to support a remedy that would result in rewriting the bankruptcy court's order severing the purchasers' rights to proceeds, and we decline to do so.

Tower Homes, 132 Nev. at 635, 377 P.3d at 123, fn. 2. In the context of this case,

Beavor still offers no case law nor principled reason why this Court's rationale in

Tower Homes should apply any differently here, particularly when there is nothing

which would prevent Beavor from still doing his former adversary's bidding and

giving him any proceeds in the future. Moreover, there is no need to re-write the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Beavor's suggestion that Tomsheck would be rewarded if this Court does not overturn *Chaffee* and *Tower Homes* is illogical. Tomsheck denied the allegations against him. I AA 10-17. That was the state of play when the district court granted summary judgment and noted the irrelevancy of Beavor's allegations against Tomsheck. III AA 591-592.

Settlement as there is no live dispute between Beavor and Hefetz which is before this Court.

Third, Beavor's lamentations that he has been stripped of his "standing" to prosecute his own claim against Tomsheck ring hollow. Beavor's predicament is self-inflicted, and yet he wishes to be rewarded for having conspired with his former adversary to harm the attorney client relationship. While there may be other jurisdictions which *might* try to find a way to turn a blind eye to Beavor's and Hefetz's assault on the attorney-client relationship and reward Beavor (e.g., Alaska), under the circumstances of this case the far better reasoned result is to follow the collective rationale of Chaffee, Tower Homes, Goodley, Gurski, Edens Tech, LLC, Picadilly, Wagener, Zuniga, Kommavongsa, Skipper, Tate, Weiss, Otis, Thompson, et al. None of these jurisdictions have provided do overs after a party had irrevocably assigned his claim, especially to his former adversary. None would reward Beavor and Hefetz. Nevada has never allowed it, and we should not start now.

F. Beavor's remaining arguments about severability and interpreting his Settlement with Hefetz have nothing to do with the district court's decision to grant summary judgment to Tomsheck; instead, those issues remain for Beavor and Hefetz and are not ripe for review

27

The remainder of Beavor's arguments rest upon how the district court's decision may have impacted his contractual relationship with his former adversary. That was neither before the district court nor relevant to the legal issue created by Beavor's assignment of his legal malpractice claim to Hefetz. In fact, the enforceability of the Settlement *vis a vis* Beavor and Hefetz is not properly before this Court. Future litigation between them may bring that issue to the surface, but it is not relevant now. The district court did not need to consider any enforceability issue, and this Court need not entertain what rights Beavor and Hefetz retain. The decision below should stand.

### CONCLUSION

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